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Fort Taylor is a product of the Bernard Board system of harbor 
defenses devised in 1821. Most of the fortifications resulting from 
the Board were replacement and restoration of older works. Fort 
Taylor was one of the few entirely new coastal defenses. Some of 
the principal forts of the system are the most spectacular defense 
structures to come out of any era of military architecture. These 
fortifications were a large group of massive walled forts embodying 
structural durability, heavy armament, and enormous firepower.

The original structure, largely built between 1844 and 1850, was
reached by a 1,000 foot long pier, with entrance over a drawbridge
at the gate on the landward side or gorge. By continuous filling
the fort is now landlocked. The 'gorge face of the trapezoid-like
structure was 494 feet in length; the north face, 335 feet; the front rn
face, 319 feet; and, the south flank face, 335 feet. The gate and m
sally port pierced the middle of the gorge and led into the parade.

The fort was a three-tier structure, the third tier actually consisting
of an earth-filled terreplein and parapet designed to prevent pene- t/»
tration by fragments of shells exploding over the living quarters.
The gorge contained over 60 rooms consisting of officer's quarters,
company barracks rooms, kitchens, closets, fireplaces, offices,
storerooms, and washrooms. Thirty to'36 windows per tier faced the
land and 22 windows per tier faced the parade. Twelve doors on -o
the first tier face the parade. There were six guns on the first
tier and 22 on the second. The terreplein contained two barbette
guns, one on the terreplein of each half bastion.

Each of the three remaining faces contained 14 guns per tier and on 
the terreplein, 14 barbette emplacements, one above each casemate. 
The west and south bastions each contained two guns in the lower tier, 
three on the second and one on the terreplein. Under each lower 
tier casemate and living quarters, cisterns collected rain water 
through an ingenious system of pipes. Communication between the lower 
tier and the terreplein in the three casemated sides was assured by 
four spiral stairways.

Alterations of the Defenses

The Bernard Board fortifications were technically an impressive 
combination of design excellence, construction quality and armament 
power. But they became obsolete during the Civil War due to the 
appearance of the rifled gun. The elongated projectiles had greater 
mass and penetrating power than the smooth bore's round shot of 
the same diameter and could reduce vertical walls to rubble. With 
the approach of the Spanish American War, the Army again examined the 
defenses at Fort Taylor and found that her guns were outranged by 
those of the new battleships. A new-type battery was installed.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Fort Zachary Taylor defended the naval station at Key West, Florida-- 
the most important naval base during the Spanish-American War. 
The Osceola battery, an implacement called for by the Endicott 
Board in the late 1880's, was installed in 1896 within the partially 
dismantled fortification originally constructed between 1844 and 
1850. The disappearing guns of the battery as well as those of 
the fortified martelo towers defended the headquarters and fleet of 
the North Atlantic Squadron under the command of Admiral William T. 
Sampson. The U.S.S. Maine left Key West for Havana harbor on 
January 25, 1898, and when it was blown up the news was received first 
at Key West. It was from Key West that the Cuban blockade was 
commanded and from that base that Admiral Sampson, joined by 
Commodore Winfield S. Schley, set sail with the White Squadron to 
confront Spanish Admiral Cervera. They succeeded in destroying his 
fleet at Santiago on July 3, 1898. The victory at Santiago virtually 
ended the war.

Of lesser importance were the other defensive roles of Fort Taylor 
at different times in the Nation's history. Fort Zachary Taylor 
defended the strategic harbor and Naval Station at Key West, Florida, 
for over a century. Although never attacked, it guarded the head­ 
quarters for the naval blockade of Confederate Gulf ports and the 
more than 299 prizes captured during that blockade. Along with 
Fort Jefferson, Fort Taylor guarded Key West's forward position in 
the Gulf. Fort Taylor joins Forts Pickens and Jefferson as the 
three Federal fortifications never seized by Confederate forces. 
Unlike many similiar fortifications, Fort Taylor exemplifies a 
century of defense modification from pre-Civil War days, through 
the Spanish-American War, to a third generation of alterations in 
World War II. Additionally, Fort Taylor is potentially one of the 
largest repositories of Civil War ordnance--the very same ordnance 
directely associated with the Fort.

History

Key West first attracted military attention in 1823 when the naval 
station was established to base the West Indies Squadron which was
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The transformation of Fort Taylor resulted in the obliteration of 
the second arid third tiers of the structure. The most interesting 
aspect of the modification took place at the south flank and front 
curtains. After removal of the obsolete ordnance and the reduction 
of the upper levels, the guns and stores were then dumped into an 
8-casemate section of the lower tier, and rubble and sand thrown in 
after them. The concrete battery was poured along the rear line of the 
casemates thus sealing them. In filling empty spaces between the 
old and new construction, old cannon were again used in spots. Rubble, 
sand, and sod were dumped to even up the slopes of the battery. This 
new structure, named Battery Osceola, contained two emplacements for 
model 1896 12-inch disappearing rifles and four pits for 8-inch mortars. 
The battery may also have contained rapid fire guns. During World War 
II, a 5-inch anti-aircraft gun was positioned on top of the remnants 
of the spiral stairway of the west bastion and another one on the 
left flank of the mortar pits.

Associated with the Fort are two "martelo towers." West martelo tower 
has been seriously impacted by its use as an artillery target. East 
martelo tower is in good condition and is located 2-1/2 miles east 
of the Fort at Key West International Airport on U.S. Route A1A. It 
is occupied by both the Art Gallery of Key West and the Historical 
Society of Key West. Not completed during the Civil War it was fortified 
during the Spanish American War.

The Excavation

Under authorization from the commanding officer of the Naval Station, 
the base Historical Committee began limited excavation. The operation 
emptied two-and-a-half casemates and recovered, (1) 7,000 gallon per 
day pre-Civil War desalinization plant, (2) two 10-inch Rodman clumbiads, 
(3) one 8-inch Coehorn siege mortar, (4) two 10-inch columbiads, 1853 
and 1854, (5) one 300-pounder Parrott rifle, (6) 1,500 cannon balls of 
various calibers, (7) iron cannon carriages and spare parts. It is 
estimated that still remaining in each of the 16 additional filled 
casemates are (1) two 10-inch Rodmans on carriages, (2) 3 or 4 Parrott 
rifle carriages, (3) iron wheels, forks, carriages, canister, grape, 
and an average of 1,200, 8 and 10-inch cannon balls. What is more, in 
the concrete fill behind the south curtain lie 75 to 100 cannon, seven 
of which are visible—six, 10-inch Rodmans and one 300-pounder Parrott 
rifle. Reportedly, three, 15-inch Rodmans are buried in the fill 
between the front curtain and the concrete mortar pits.

6 P 0 921.724
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created to destroy Caribbean piracy. Strategically, the base, 
situated in a safe harbor, commanded and provided access to the 
Gulf of Mexico and a large portion of the Caribbean Sea. With the 
routing of the pirates and increases in yellow fever, the squadron 
was removed in 1826. The only operation remaining was a coaling 
and supply station which seems to have been upgraded to a naval 
depot in 1856. In the 1830's several companies of infantry were 
stationed at Key West in the wake of Indian uprisings. During the 
following decade, construction of Fort Zachary Taylor began as part 
of the Bernard Board's effort to strengthen the Florida coasts.

With the onset of the Civil War, Florida let pass the opportunity 
of seizing Fort Taylor. The Civil War intensified activity at Key 
West. With the blockade of Southern ports, the headquarters of the 
Gulf Blockading Squadron was established at Key West. When the squadron 
was divided into east and west sections, Key West remained headquarters 
for the East. The East Squadron captured 299 Confederate blockade- 
runners which were brought before the prize-court (the building is 
destroyed), condemned, and sold at auction. At the same time, the 
naval station provided comfort and safety for merchantmen bound for 
northern ports. During the Civil War and the establishment of the 
blockade, Fort Taylor defended the Naval Station although it was never 
attacked and the lack of a Confederate navy made an attack a problematical 
operation.

At the end of the Civil War, the naval station reverted once again to 
a coaling and supply point. In 1870 the Army withdrew its garrison 
from the Fort which was then used for storage. Permanent defenses 
decayed swiftly, but by 1889 some observers expressed a concern that 
the Nation's defenses were becoming vulnerable to the new iron-clads 
equipped with heavy rifled cannon. Anticipating a conflict with 
Spain, the Navy enlarged the Naval Station and the Army reactivated 
the post. An artillery battery arrived in 1896 and "modernization" 
of the defenses were completed by 1899. The Army enlarged Key West 
Barracks and prepared the post's hospital for an expected large number 
of casualties.

During the Spanish-American War, Key West Naval Station was the most 
important base in the Nation. Headquarters was established there for 
the North Atlantic Squadron under the command of William T. Sampson. 
Admiral Sampson was given the New York (Flagship), Iowa, Indiana, and 
the Oregon. The U.S.S. Maine left Key West for Havana harbor on January 
25, 1898, and when it was blown up the news was received first at Key 
West. It was from Key West that the Cuban blockade was commanded and 
from that base that Admiral Sampson, joined by Commodore Winfield S. 
Schley, set sail with the White Squadron to confront Spanish Admiral
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Cervera. They succeeded in destroying his fleet at Santiago on July 3, 
1898. The victory at Santiago virtually ended the war.

After the Spanish-American War, the defense role of Fort Taylor 
diminished. While the Naval Station became headquarters for the 
Seventh Naval District during World War I, Fort Taylor did not assume 
its traditional role of defense at this time. While the status of 
the Naval Station wavered between the World Wars, by 1942 the Seventh 
Naval District was reestablished at Key West with a relatively 
significant role in submarine defense. At this time Fort Taylor 
reasserted its defense role and served as an emplacement for anti­ 
aircraft artillery. Two years after the war the Army entirely abandoned 
Key West and turned Fort Taylor over to the Navy.

GPO 921-724
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Original Plan, Fort Zachary Taylor, Key West, Florida Photo courtesy, U.S. Naval Air Station 1972
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